
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.137

 
 

137th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XIV (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Resumed Ninth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



137th meeting—26 August 1980 41

137th meeting
Tuesday, 26 August 1980, at 3.25 p.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE

General debate (continued)

1. Mr. FARIVAR (Iran), reiterating his country's position of
principle on certain questions which, in his opinion, remained
outstanding or had not yet been satisfactorily resolved, said that
the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea of a State
should not be accorded to warships, which could not be assimi-
lated to merchant ships, and that the passage of such ships should
be subject to prior authorization by the coastal State. In that con-
nexion, the only concession which his delegation was prepared to
make concerned the part of the territorial sea that comprised a

strait used for international navigation and constituted the obliga-
tory route for transit passage between two parts of the high seas.
But even in that case, the passage of warships should take place
with due respect for the sovereignty of the State bordering the
strait. Similarly, his delegation opposed the inclusion of the right
and freedom of overflight in the area of the territorial sea in Part
III of the negotiating text, since the air space over that portion of
the territory of the coastal State was, according to international
law, subject to the sovereignty of that State.

2. Concerning delimitation of the exclusive economic zone and



42 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

the continental shelf between States with opposite or adjacent
coasts, his delegation doubted whether the efforts made in that
area would be successful and would have been satisfied with a
reference to international law alone, without any further explana-
tion or clarificaticn. Basing itself on international law and the
practice followed by the States of the region, Iran had consist-
ently advocated the need to devise equitable solutions in delimi-
tation operations, using the median or equidistance line and
taking account, in all cases, of the particular circumstances pre-
vailing in the area to be delimited.
3. His delegation welcomed the definition of "States with spe-
cial geographical characteristics" contained in the second revi-
sion of the negotiating text (A/CONF.62/W.P.10/Rev.2 and
Corr.2-5). That definition would avoid the difficulties inherent in
any definition based on numerical criteria and, at the same time,
it responded to the legitimate concerns of countries which, like
Iran, bordered enclosed or semi-enclosed seas, generally poor in
living resources, and which, for adequate supplies of fish for
their populations, were obliged to extend their fishing activities
into the economic zones of other States in the region or subre-
gion. With respect to enclosed or semi-enclosed seas, Iran wel-
comed the idea of voluntary co-operation between States bor-
dering such seas, since any obligation imposed in that respect
could have harmful consequences.
4. On the question of the regime of islands, Iran in principle
opposed any distinction between natural land areas which were
above water at high tide. In a spirit of compromise, however, his
delegation would agree to the sole article in Part VIII, but not
without reserving the right to reject any extensive interpretation
to which that article might give rise in the future.
5. His delegation was prepared to recognize the freedom of
transit of land-locked States subject to reciprocity. For example,
a State which possessed a sea-coast might nevertheless wish to
have the right of transit through the territory of a land-locked
State for reasons of distance from the sea or because of the exist-
ence of a road system better adapted to its needs. Because of the
reduction in costs made possible by such an alternative, it could
be extremely important, especially for the least-developed coun-
tries.
6. With respect to the legal status of the international area, his
delegation repeated its wish to remain faithful to the principle of
the common heritage of mankind, which was a peremptory norm
of international law, and to do everything possible to ensure that
the relevant provisions of the convention were compatible with
that principle. Its main concern was to ensure that the future En-
terprise enjoyed the conditions necessary for the successful ex-
ploration and exploitation of the sea-bed, at both the technical
and financial levels, without being paralysed by the voting sys-
tem in the Council. Furthermore, the Conference should not lose
sight of the need to preserve the interests of all the States mem-
bers of the international community, and more particularly of
deep-sea mineral exporters.
7. With regard to the protection and preservation of the marine
environment, his delegation refused to agree to any provision
which would limit the coastal State's freedom to establish regula-
tions concerning certain particularly vulnerable parts of its exclu-
sive economic zone because of its geographical, economic or bi-
ological characteristics. It might have been sufficient to leave the
competent international organizations to draw up a list of special
areas of that kind and to leave the States concerned to adopt such
laws and regulations as they felt were necessary to safeguard
those areas.
8. As to the implementation of the regulations on the preven-
tion of pollution in the zone situated beyond the territorial sea,
his delegation considered that, for a country like Iran, which had
very long coast lines and whose adjacent zones were extremely
vulnerable to pollution from large tankers, most of which only
travelled in transit through its economic zone without putting in
at its ports, the system set forth in the negotiating text was not
very useful. The enforcement powers which that text accorded to
the coastal State were insufficient compared with those it granted

to the port State. The Conference should therefore reconsider that
question and make the conditions established in the text more
flexible, limiting the obstacles to possible legal action by the
coastal State against offenders. His delegation could not be satis-
fied with the purely monetary penalties provided for in that re-
spect, especially since such a provision was at variance with Ira-
nian law.
9. In conclusion, he expressed the hope that questions such as
the participation of liberation movements in the convention,
which were of great importance to his country, would be consid-
ered as early as possible.
10. Mr. BRENNAN (Australia) said that the progress achieved
in the First Committee (see A/CONF.62/C.1/L.28 and Add.l)
had brought within reach the completion of negotiations on the
basic structure of the system of exploitation of the resources of
the seabed beyond national jurisdiction. In particular, the tough
negotiations on the question of voting in the Council had been
successfully completed. The system of voting devised for sub-
stantive questions provided the necessary measure of flexibility,
in view of the complexity of the issues with which the Council
would be dealing.
11. On the subject of production policies, Australia, although
itself a producer of sea-bed metals, would have preferred a sys-
tem under which there was no production limitation clause.
However, his delegation would agree to the insertion of such a
clause in the light of the importance which land-based producers
generally attached to it and in a spirit of co-operation. But it was
also essential that the formula adopted should be backed up with
anti-subsidization and market-access.clauses. Although it had
been decided to include a market-access clause, no anti-subsidy
clause had yet been negotiated. Recognizing that the production
policies provided reasonable scope for the development of sea-
bed mining, even in periods of low consumption growth, and
that the essential needs of land-based producers were being met,
his delegation supported the inclusion of article 151, paragraph
2, in the third revision.
12. On the financing of the Enterprise, whose viability must be
ensured, his delegation considered that States parties needed to
know the maximum amount of their contributions before ratify-
ing the convention. There was also a need to avoid a shortfall
provision which would act as a disincentive to early ratification.
In that connexion, the solutions proposed by the Chairman of the
First Committee in his report constituted an improvement on the
provisions in the present text. Subject to the clarification it had
requested concerning the new clause proposed for article 161,
paragraph 2 (c), his delegation also supported the other changes
mentioned in the report.
13. Referring to the work of the Second Committee, his dele-
gation considered that the package agreed on, in particular with
respect to the continental shelf, was now close to the form which
was likely to command consensus. But it was still not satisfied
with article 82, both from a practical standpoint and on grounds
of principle. Article 76, paragraph 8, concerning the Commis-
sion on the limits of the continental shelf, was also a source of
concern. Noting that consultations had taken place on a revised
compromise text for article 63, his delegation considered that the
chances of consensus would be enhanced if the renewed concerns
expressed on that issue were to be reflected in the revised text.
Since the provisions of article 21, relating to innocent passage,
represented the results of a very carefully negotiated package, re-
opening that issue would not, in his opinion, contribute to the en-
dorsement of the convention by consensus.
14. His delegation considered that negotiations in the Third
Committee, like those in the Second Committee, had been essen-
tially completed.
15. But with regard to the new general provisions (see A/
CONF.62/L.58), it was concerned that, in an understandable ef-
fort to achieve consensus and to accommodate the special wishes
of particular States, there had been some departures from ac-
cepted legal concepts. That comment applied to article 305, para-
graph 6, and more particularly to paragraph 2 of the new draft ar-



137th meeting—26 August 1980 43

tide on the protection ot archaeological objects. His delegation
supported the inclusion in the third revision of the text of the
draft articles on final clauses and the amendment of the provi-
sions on dispute settlement (see A/CONF.62/L.59).
16. At the advanced stage which the work of the Conference
had now reached, the work of the Drafting Committee assumed
particular importance, and for that reason his delegation regarded
it as essential that the Committee should be in a position to sub-
mit a comprehensive set of recommendations at the next session
of the Conference.
17. Mr. PINTO (Sri Lanka) welcomed the compromise solu-
tions resulting from the work of the Second and Third Commit-
tees, the success of the efforts made in the area of dispute settle-
ment, and the substantial progress achieved in the negotiations
on the general provisions and final clauses. He reminded the par-
ticipants that at the eighth session his delegation had made a sug-
gestion intended to redress the inequitable consequences of the
application of draft article 76 to a continental margin having
specified characteristics. As Mr. Aguilar, Chairman of the Sec-
ond Committee, had intimated in March 1980 (see A/CONF.62/
L.51),1 the negotiations on that question carried out under his
guidance had resulted, thanks to the co-operation of all con-
cerned, in the drafting of a carefully balanced text.
18. His delegation considered that the most spectacular success
achieved at the current session concerned the solutions found to
the complex issues before the First Committee, solutions which,
although not entirely satisfactory to every delegation, neverthe-
less represented the basis for a broadly acceptable compromise.
The proposals on decision-making within the Council were par-
ticularly important since, in his opinion, they constituted a deli-
cate balance between various factors such as the size of the
Council, the representation of the various interests, the represen-
tation of geographical regions, the Council's powers and func-
tions, and the principle of the separation of powers between the
various organs of the Authority.
19. With regard to production policies, his delegation wel-
comed the consensus which was emerging on the text of articles
150 and 151, although it doubted whether article 150, subpara-
graph (i), would serve its purpose and felt that it might have been
better to have thought in terms of a safeguard clause rather than
to have inserted that subparagraph, which sought in somewhat
unclear terms to ensure market access.
20. His delegation deeply regretted that the negotiators had
been unable to agree on complete tax exemption for the Enter-
prise in recognition of its unique character and objectives. How-
ever, it welcomed the changes made in the statute of the Enter-
prise which tended to enhance its financial independence, in
particular through the new provisions of annex IV, article 11,
paragraph 3 (/), on the repayment of interest-free loans.
21. Much work remained to be done. Since it had been decided
to postpone the solution of some delicate legal, technical and
even political problems concerning the rules, regulations and
procedures to be adopted by the Authority by consensus, the
Conference was able to focus its attention squarely on the follow-
ing phase of its work and on the preparations for the establish-
ment of the Authority. In particular, it would be necessary to
study the many problems connected with the entry into force of
the convention, the preparatory commission, its composition, its
terms of reference, and, most important, its rules, regulations
and procedures, which should perhaps reflect those of the future
Authority. His delegation would like to see the successful con-
clusion of negotiations concerning measures to promote ocean
mining ventures through the establishment of certain guarantees
for pioneers in that area.
22. Having become aware of the urgent need to strengthen the
scientific and technical infrastructure of Sri Lanka in order to
take full advantage of the possibilities afforded by the new con-

1 Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea. vol. XIII (United Nations publication. Sales No. E.81.V.5).

vention on the law of the sea, his delegation wished to explore,
with other interested delegations, ways of securing the necessary
financial assistance for achieving that aim. It was surprised that
the enthusiasm aroused by the question of the transfer of technol-
ogy for deep-sea mining had not been matched in regard to far
more familiar and accessible areas such as fisheries and the de-
velopment of off-shore resources. But it had every hope that the
new convention would remedy that situation and that new initia-
tives would be taken in that direction in co-operation with such
organizations as the International Oceanographic Commission of
UNESCO, the Inter-Governmental Maritime Consultative Organ-
ization and the International Hydrographic Organization in the
field of science and scientific research, and with such organiza-
tions as FAO in the field of fisheries and the development and
application of fishery management techniques.
23. Mr. BEESLEY (Canada) congratulated the Chairman of the
First Committee on his excellent report and associated himself,
in particular, with the Chairman's plea to the delegations con-
cerned to continue to consult and negotiate on unresolved issues,
such as the nickel production formula. Since 1976, Canada and
other countries had sought to devise a formula to ensure the com-
plementary development of land-based and sea-based resources
in equitable conditions for all. However, the revised text pro-
posed by the co-ordinators of the working group of 21 contained
no provision on unfair practices and an extremely weak provision
on market access.
24. His delegation was particularly surprised to note that the
minerals extracted from the sea-bed beyond the limits of national
jurisdiction would be treated not as imports but as minerals ex-
tracted from within national jurisdiction, just as if they were
taken from a land-based mine. It thus reserved its position on
that point, and on the production formula proposed in article
151, paragraph 2 (b). Since it was desirable that those issues
should be solved to the satisfaction of all the parties directly af-
fected, his delegation would be pleased to participate in negotia-
tions leading to a generally-acceptable solution.
25. While it considered that considerable progress had been
made with regard to voting procedure within the Council, his
delegation was concerned about some, aspects of the provisions
regarding the Council's composition. For instance, although ar-
ticle 161, paragraph 2 (c), on members nominated by the groups,
represented an improvement, the wording was, in his view, in-
sufficiently clear. It should be specified that the groups referred
to were those listed in article 161, paragraph 1 (a) to (e), and not
only regional groups. It would also be useful to define more
clearly how each group was constituted. Although his delegation
welcomed the fact that it had now been clearly specified that
only net exporters would be eligible for the land-based producer
group, it still hoped that its proposal that only land-based mining
production be taken into account would be adopted.
26. His delegation considered that the Authority should be in a
position to ensure the protection of the marine environment. It
had therefore noted with concern that the latest proposals relating
to the powers of the Council made general decisions on the pro-
tection of environmentally-sensitive areas subject to a three-
fourths majority and appeared to make the exercise of the power
to issue stop-work orders subject to that same rule. In its opinion
those provisions were contrary to the fundamental obligation of
all States to preserve the environment in accordance with the pro-
visions of article 192.
27. While his delegation was satisfied with the outcome of the
negotiations in the Second Committee on the continental margin,
it continued to reserve its position concerning the precise provi-
sions on revenue-sharing and on the existing wording of article
76, paragraph 8, relating to the recommendations of the commis-
sion on the limits of the continental shelf.
28. His delegation considered that the wording of article 63
should be considerably strengthened and that paragraph 2 of that
article should be amended so as to make it more consistent with
articles 117 and 118, since they all related to the same question.
29. As to the delimitation of maritime boundaries between



44 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

States with opposite or adjacent coasts, his delegation considered
that the views expressed by the two groups concerned were no
longer very far apart. In its opinion, the provisions of articles 74
and 83 of the second revision of the negotiating text represented
the best basis for consensus on the question, although it still had
reservations about some aspects of the text.
30. With regard to the work of the Third Committee, his dele-
gation continued to be concerned about the phrase "detailed ex-
ploratory operations" in article 246, paragraph 6, which might
give rise to an infringement of the sovereign rights of the coastal
State over the resources of the continental shelf. It therefore pro-
posed that the word "detailed" should be replaced by the word
"specific" so that there could be no suggestion that a coastal
State might be obliged to reveal proprietary information about
exploration and exploitation activities protected by national legis-
lation.
31. Referring to the proposals emanating from the plenary Con-
ference, his delegation was able to support the President's pro-
posals for the improvement and strengthening of the provisions
of the second revision of the negotiating text on dispute settle-
ment. However, the role of the preparatory commission was a
source of increasing concern to his delegation. Although its com-
position and mode of operation were not yet known, very far-
reaching powers were given to it in the proposed revision of the
negotiating text; in his opinion, the Conference should seriously
consider whether that was what it wanted.
32. In conclusion, he reminded the participants of the fate of
the 1958 Geneva Conventions on the law of the sea, which had
not even lasted 10 years, because they had not adequately re-
flected the demands of the developing countries. It was still not
too late to reconsider some of the proposals before the Confer-
ence with a view to reflecting more effectively the interests of
the many who were not wealthy, who were not industrialized,
who were not technically advanced, but who represented the vast
majority of mankind.
33. Mr. MIZZI (Malta) considered that the ninth session of the
Conference as a whole had been a marked success, largely owing
to the willingness shown by the various interests involved to
reach a compromise and to the restraint which many delegations
had displayed, in the belief that a convention that had the support
of all States was more conducive to peace, stability and co-
operation among nations. The third revision of the negotiating
text would be an improvement on the second, but it would still
not be the final text because, apart from the fact that it contained
provisions which were still being negotiated, it contained others
which required further polishing.
34. Since his delegation had been the first to request that the
sea-bed and ocean floor beyond the limits of national jurisdiction
should be declared the common heritage of mankind, it naturally
had a special interest in that question. However, it noted with re-
gret that the international Area had shrunk considerably since the
1970 United Nations declaration on that question (resolution
2749 (XXV)) and, what was even more serious, the exploitation
of the resources of that Area required very sophisticated technol-
ogy and highly capital-intensive ventures. That fact made his
delegation sceptical as to the financial benefits which would ac-
crue to the international community as a whole and to the devel-
oping countries in particular.
35. His delegation was also concerned about the question of
representation on the Council. While it did not want to undo the
compromise solution reached after months of hard negotiations,
it wished to point out that, in the opinion of many delegations,
the text proposed should not be considered as the last word and
that it could be further improved in order to give a greater num-
ber of States a better chance, through rotation, to sit on the
Council at least once.
36. In his view, the most serious failure of the Conference con-
cerned the settlement of disputes. It did not see the point of
agreeing on elaborate regulations for the utilization of the seas
and oceans when those provisions were not enforceable against
those who infringed them or chose to ignore them. To be forced

to settle a dispute through a compulsory and binding third-party
procedure might be considered by some States to be a violation
of their sovereignty, but to agree to be so bound was an exercise,
not a denial, of that sovereignty. Even less comprehensible were
the provisions of the negotiating text which allowed States to ex-
clude certain disputes from settlement through the procedures
which applied to other disputes of the same kind. Negotiations
should thus be pursued on that point in order to reach at least a
compromise formula which would give the future convention a
better claim to the title of the law of the sea.
37. The question of the delimitation of the maritime boundaries
between States with opposite or adjacent coasts had so far eluded
a consensus. However, although the relevant provisions of the
second revision of the negotiating text could not be regarded as
final, they nevertheless offered, in the opinion of most delega-
tions, the best basis for an agreed solution- In'that connexion, his
delegation wished to stress that the problem involved three
elements—substantive rules, dispute settlement and interim
measures—which were so closely linked that consensus on any
of them was impossible without consensus on the other two as
well.
38. As to the innocent passage of ships, he reminded the partic-
ipants that Malta had now become a sponsor of the proposal for
the incorporation in article 21 of a clause under which warships
would be required, in order to "pass through a State's territorial
sea, to obtain the prior authorization of that State or to notify it
in advance. Because of its seriousness, the proposal should be
given all due attention by the Conference.
39. Lastly, his delegation supported the proposal authorizing
national liberation movements to become parties to the conven-
tion and expressed the hope that the decision on the choice of the
headquarters of the Authority would be taken at the forthcoming
session.
40. Mr. WOLF (Austria), speaking on behalf of his delegation
and as Chairman of the group of land-locked and other geograph-
ically disadvantaged countries, which numbered 55 now that they
had been joined by Zimbabwe, said that the current negotiations
had always had the goal of hammering out a universal conven-
tion which respected the legitimate interests of all States. How-
ever, the text which was being worked out accorded wider recog-
nition to the claims of some States, particularly coastal States
with a broad continental margin, than to the claims of others. It
would be mistaken to believe that such prerogatives should be
sanctioned by law. On the contrary, the law should safeguard the
interests of those States which encountered difficulties because of
their geographically disadvantaged situation, and should further-
more encourage those States to enlarge their maritime interests as
equal members of the international community. The text hardly
satisfied those requirements. Consequently, the provisions which
took those elements into account would have to be interpreted
and applied in a manner favourable to the legitimate demands of
that group of States, for that was the only way of preventing the
convention from being spoken of in future as merely a "coastal
States' convention".
41. His delegation was nevertheless convinced that the agree-
ment by the First Committee constituted a major breakthrough.
The introduction into international law and the universal accept-
ance of two new concepts—-the principle of the common heritage
of mankind and the concept of a public international resource
management institution—were of overriding importance. Those
innovations might have consequences which went beyond the
realm of the sea.
42. To a country like Austria, which was small, land-locked
and technologically developed, the Authority offered four advan-
tages. First, it was through international co-operation that Austria
hoped to share in the benefits from the uses of ocean space from
which its geographical situation, reinforced by the policies
adopted by the Conference, had practically excluded it. Sec-
ondly, since technology was one of its major resources, Austria
might be able, through active co-operation with the Authority, to
develop that resource and benefit more greatly from it. Thirdly,



137th meeting—26 August 1980 45

participation in the exploitation of the mineral resources of the
Area would contribute to an assured supply for Austria's indus-
tries. Fourthly, the Authority could offer Austria new ways to
implement the goals of its international development policy of
north-south co-operation. Such were the interests and hopes of
Austria. But like many other delegations, his delegation was dis-
appointed by the compromise that had been reached. The compo-
sition of the Council was such that a country like Austria had
little hope of participating actively in the conduct of the
Authority's affairs. The voting procedures might paralyse the ac-
tivities of the Council and did not seem to be designed as an in-
strument of executive and managerial efficiency. The provisions
for the financing of the Enterprise were such as to discourage rat-
ification of the convention. However, the new text of annex IV,
article 11, paragraph 3 (d), reflected Austria's views better than
the former text.

43. Turning to the questions allocated to the Second Commit-
tee, he again stressed that his delegation did not see any need to
confine the rights set out in article 69, paragraph 3, to develop-
ing countries, since they had their origin in the establishment of
the exclusive economic zone, in respect of which no distinction
had been made between developing and developed coastal States.
Furthermore, the text relating to the continental shelf extended
that part of the sea-bed over which coastal States enjoyed exclu-
sive rights of exploration and exploitation to the detriment of the
international community as a whole. In order to establish a cer-
tain balance in that legal regime, his delegation supported the
idea of increasing the figures in article 82 and the proposal to es-
tablish a common heritage fund as compensation for the benefits
derived by certain States from the use of that part of the sea. As
for participation in the exploitation of natural resources, his dele-
gation had already proposed a draft resolution on the continental
shelf, the full text of which would appear in its written statement
(A/CONF.62AVS.10). The draft resolution took account of the
fact that the concept of natural prolongation must be applied to
the continent as a whole. It thus seemed justified and equitable to
safeguard, in the exploitation of such resources, the interests of
States without a continental shelf or with only a limited continen-
tal shelf.

44. His delegation's comments on the questions dealt with by
the Third Committee would appear in its written statement.

45. Attention should now be focused on the Preparatory Com-
mission, whose role was still ill-defined, and on the practical im-
plementation of the provisional measures.

46. Mr. STARCEVIC (United Nations Council for Namibia)
said that the Council's position as the legal administering author-
ity of Namibia was dictated both by the present and future status
of Namibia and by the geographical characteristics of that coun-
try. All legislative measures adopted by South Africa, in particu-
lar the extension of the limit of Namibia's territorial sea to 12
nautical miles and the proclamation of an exclusive economic
zone of 200 nautical miles, were illegal, null and void, the Coun-
cil alone had the right to adopt decisions applicable to Nami-
bia. Similarly, the decision of South Africa to annex Walvis Bay
and the surrounding areas was illegal, null and void. Once Nami-
bia achieved independence, it would wish, as a developing coun-
try, to receive its share of the benefits from the exploitation of
the common heritage of mankind and, as a coastal State, to en-
sure that the interests of its people were protected by the imple-
mentation of the future convention.

47. After examining the proposal of the co-ordinators of the
working group of 21, considered by some to be a breakthrough,
his delegation believed that the developing countries had no rea-
son to rejoice at the result, which had been achieved to their det-
riment and under pressure of time, the desire to have a conven-
tion at any price, threats of unilateral action, etc. Wherever the
word "Authority" had been used in the second revision, the as-
sumption had been that the most important powers and functions
would be assigned to the Assembly. In the co-ordinators' pro-
posals, however, the "Authority" had invariably become the
"Council", an organ of limited membership and complicated

structure, whereas all States parties would be represented in the
Assembly. The system for adopting decisions followed the same
pattern: decisions on questions of most concern to developing
countries would be taken by consensus, with the result that there
was a possibility of veto, or would have to comply with require-
ments which were difficult to satisfy; on the other hand, the ap-
proval of plans of work, which mainly concerned the industrial-
ized countries, was very simplified. Furthermore, the
requirement of the highest standard of competence for members
of the Commissions was not designed to promote candidates
from the developing countries. In that connexion, his delegation
considered unacceptable the provision under which the Council
must reach a consensus in order to recommend to the Assembly
the rules, regulations and procedures applicable to the equitable
sharing of benefits derived from activities in the Area pursuant to
article 82. The provisions under which particular consideration
was to be given to the interests and needs of the developing
countries which had not yet acceded to independence would re-
main a dead letter if the refusal of only one member of the Coun-
cil was sufficient for the Assembly to receive no recommenda-
tion in that regard. If that situation arose, the Assembly would
probably act on its own to protect the interests of territories under
foreign occupation, like Namibia. Those were the reasons why
delegations should study the co-ordinators' proposal most care-
fully before accepting it, even on a provisional basis.

48. Since his delegation had started participating in the Confer-
ence only recently, it would address itself only to those items
considered by the Second Committee which had a direct bearing
on Namibia. In that respect, it attached the utmost importance to
all the provisions relating to areas of national jurisdiction, in par-
ticular the provisions defining such areas and clearly establishing
the rights of coastal States. It supported the outcome of the nego-
tiations on the territorial sea, the exclusive economic zone and
the continental shelf which protected Namibia's interests and
those of third States. It attached particular importance to articles
2, 3, 10, 55, 56, 58, 61, 62, 76 and 77. The exploitation of liv-
ing and non-living resources in the areas which would be under
Namibia's jurisdiction was of vital importance to the people of
Namibia, the only people entitled to derive benefit from those
areas. His delegation also supported the compromise formulas
worked out by negotiating group 4 concerning the access of land-
locked and other geographically disadvantaged States to the liv-
ing resources of the exclusive economic zone and the formulas
concerning the right of access of land-locked States to and from
the sea and freedom of transit. It hoped that a satisfactory solu-
tion would be found to the problem of delimitation, the only out-
standing problem in the Second Committee.

49. On the whole, the provisions worked out by the Third
Committee were acceptable to his delegation, which hoped that
the rights and authority of coastal States would not be curtailed
in any way.

50. Lastly, in respect of the final clauses, it was imperative that
countries which had not acceded to independence in accordance
with General Assembly resolution 1514 (XV) and liberation
movements recognized by the United Nations and the regional
organizations should be allowed to accede to the convention. His
delegation hoped that the formula on accession being worked out
by the Group of 77 would be incorporated in the final clauses.

51. Mr. ANDERSEN (Iceland) said his delegation realized that
some issues would have to be deferred until the next session, that
intersessional meetings would have to be held on the question of
the preparatory commission and that the Drafting Committee
would have to continue its work. Nevertheless, the Conference
had concluded its substantive negotiations and its goal, the draft-
ing of a comprehensive convention on the law of the sea, was in
sight. His delegation considered that the third revision should in-
corporate the achievements of the current session on the general
provisions and dispute settlement, and the results obtained in the
three main committees. Questions already resolved should not be
reopened and care must be taken not to jeopardize the delicate
balance of the package solution. Therefore, no reservations



46 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

should be permitted, unless specifically authorized in the articles
themselves.
52. The question of the delimitation of the areas between States
with opposite or adjacent coasts had given rise to prolonged dis-
cussion: the supporters of the principle of equity and the sup-
porters of the principle of the equidistance line had not been able
to agree on a proposal for changing the terms of articles 74 and
83. In the opinion of his delegation, delimitation should be ef-
fected through agreement between the States concerned, the aim
always being to achieve an equitable solution. However, so
many factors were involved that all that could be said was that
sometimes the equidistance line led to an equitable solution. If it
did not, account must be taken of the relevant factors, including
special circumstances. The solution must always be equitable and
all methods, including the equidistance line, could be used to
achieve that goal. In his delegation's view, the current wording
of articles 74 and 83 satisfied that requirement.
53. His delegation hoped that all delegations would go to the
next session with the firm intention of concluding the work of the
Conference, so that the long-awaited Caracas session could be
held in the summer of 1981.

54. Mr. SPACIL (Czechoslovakia) observed that when the deci-
sion had been taken to codify the law of the sea, no one had
realized the complexity of the task. In fact, after several sessions,
the Conference had over 300 draft articles and texts of annexes be-
fore it. Those documents took account of the reality of the present-
day world, the interests of geographical groups, developed and de-
veloping countries, consumers and producers, coastal States and
land-locked or geographically disadvantaged States, and the exist-
ence of different social and political systems. The combined efforts
of all had made it possible to achieve positive results. Naturally, his
delegation would have liked a different wording for certain provi-
sions which would appear in the third revision, including, of
course, the provisions relating to the rights of land-locked and other
geographically disadvantaged States. In general, it considered that
an acceptable solution had been found by the First Committee to the
questions allotted to it, but it would have preferred the institution of
more specific guarantees against State monopoly with regard to the
utilization of resources. The proposed methods of financing did not
give countries like Czechoslovakia benefits consonant with their
contractual commitments. Furthermore, his delegation would have
liked the Council to adopt all its decisions by a three-fourths major-
ity, but it recognized that every State, and every group of States,
had had to make its contribution to the text occasionally by forgoing
insistence on certain interests in order to arrive at a balanced com-
promise.
55. It noted with concern that certain delegations were chal-
lenging the results of the work on basic questions such as the r6-
gime of territorial waters, the exclusive economic zone, and even
the establishment and composition of the Council. Any attempt
to reopen the discussion on the composition of the Council, for
example, if only through the addition of a foot-note, would jeop-
ardize all the results achieved. Attention should rather be focused
on the outstanding issues. The work of the Conference was proof
of the validity of the concepts of detente and peaceful coexist-
ence. Moreover, the fact that the Conference had taken into ac-
count the legitimate requirements of developing countries did it
credit.
56. Since the basic problems had been settled, delegations
should now unite their efforts to adopt the convention by con-
sensus.
57. Mr. ORREGO VICUNA (Chile) paid tribute to Mr. Gonza-
lez Videla, the sponsor of the 1947 proclamation on the 200-
nautical-mile zone and former President of Chile, who had just
died. That proclamation, the first in the world, had led in 1952 to
the Santiago Declaration on the Maritime Zone of the South Pa-
cific countries, which at present united Chile, Colombia, Ecua-
dor and Peru. That had been the starting-point for the process of
updating the law of the sea, a process which was crowned by the
present Conference.
58. As to the delimitation of the exclusive economic zone and

the continental shelf and related matters, his delegation consid-
ered that the Conference was examining a whole series of
closely-linked questions, as explicitly acknowledged in the
agreements on procedure which were guiding the work of the
Conference. The provisions compiled in that connexion in the
second revision of the negotiating text offered an adequate basis
for reaching consensus. His delegation therefore reiterated its
support for those compromise formulas, which should be pre-
served in their entirety in the absence of more satisfactory solu-
tions.
59. Chile, however, had some difficulty with the provisions on
the settlement of disputes, which were ineffective and comprised
a whole series of exceptions that would make them practically
inoperative. As talks on that whole question were continuing, his
delegation would do its utmost to ensure that the issues relating
to the settlement of disputes were re-examined. Chile had ac-
tively participated in the direct consultations among the groups
concerned and if, as a result of those consultations, the various
delegations agreed on more satisfactory texts likely to lead to a
consensus, his delegation would not press for the re-examination
of the other provisions in the negotiating package.
60. Thus, while his delegation considered as acceptable the
proposals made by the President for the rearrangement of the
provisions on the settlement of disputes, it was clearly under-
stood that that rearrangement did not mean that his delegation ac-
cepted the consolidation of the substantive texts, such as articles
298 and 298 bis, which were being negotiated as part of a pack-
age on which a final consensus had not yet been reached.
61. His delegation supported the President's report on final
clauses, and, with regard to the reservations and exceptions, it
recognized the principle that, in a convention negotiated by con-
sensus, only those reservations expressly provided for in the ar-
ticles themselves could be accepted. With that in mind, it consid-
ered that the relevant provision had been sufficiently debated and
that consensus had already been achieved on it.
62. As to the general provisions, in particular the proposal con-
cerning jus cogens submitted by his delegation with the general
support of the developing countries and other countries (see A/
CONF.62/L.58), his delegation considered that the compromise
which had been reached on article 305, paragraph 6, incorpo-
rated some of the essential elements of the question, in particular
the prohibition to make any change whatsoever in the concept of
the common heritage of mankind or to conclude agreements con-
trary to that principle, although it would have preferred more cat-
egorical language. It stressed that the negotiated text in no way
affected the status accorded to jus cogens provisions in custom-
ary law and that that text took note of their existence.
63. Referring to the negotiations in the First Committee, he
said that with the conclusion of the negotiations on the limitation
of production, one of the basic issues of the convention had been
resolved, an issue to which Chile, as a country which exported
copper and other ores found in the Area, attached particular im-
portance. The search for a solution to the problems of the ad-
verse effects of sea-bed mining on producer countries dated back
to the first session of the Conference. Although the results ob-
tained in that field were not altogether satisfactory, they were ac-
ceptable to the great majority of the countries concerned, as had
been shown by the discussions within the regional groups and the
Group of 77. The scheme proposed, which was based on market
growth and included a safeguard clause in the event of low
growth, was the outcome of the consensus that had been sought
for so long. That mechanism must be supplemented by appropri-
ate measures for the cobalt-producing countries, which would be
seriously affected by the exploitation of the Area. When the
compensation system came to be worked out, priority would
have to be given to the study of mechanisms for adequately pro-
tecting those countries.
64. The ninth session of the Conference was ending with an-
other important result: the development of the voting system
for decision-making by the Council. The essentially non-
discriminatory nature of the system and the distinction made be-



137th meeting—26 August 1980 47

tween the various questions to be decided were new elements
which would play a major role in the activities of the Authority
and would constitute an interesting precedent for future negotia-
tions between industrialized and developing countries, negotia-
tions which had often failed because there had been no agree-
ment on the decision-making machinery. His delegation would
have preferred a different solution but considered that the solu-
tion that had been devised was sufficiently realistic to be ac-
cepted.
65. The negotiations on the transfer of technology and tht
means of financing the Enterprise had been completed through
compromise solutions which also seemed realistic, although his
delegation would again have preferred different solutions.
66. The progress achieved at the current session should not be
allowed to overshadow the serious difficulties which were yet to
be overcome, in particular those relating to participation, invest-
ment protection and the establishment and nature of the Prepara-
tory Commission. His delegation hoped that all delegations
would be able to participate, without restriction, in the delibera-
tions on those issues.
67. The PRESIDENT in rum paid tribute to Mr. Gonzalez
Videla, the former President of Chile, whose initiatives had set a
deep imprint on the history of the law of the sea.
68. Mr. HAYES (Ireland) said that an achievement of the Con-
ference that would have beneficial effects for the society of na-
tions far beyond the reaches of the law of the sea would be the
establishment of the regime for the international sea-bed Area be-
yond the limits of national jurisdiction and the setting-up of the
International Sea-Bed Authority to control and administer the ex-
ploitation of the resources of that Area. He considered that the
texts before the Conference represented agreements in which the
interests of all sides were reconciled and that they would lead to
consensus. Nevertheless, the sacrifices made by some delega-
tions for the sake of that package should not be underestimated.
69. In the areas covered by the mandates of the Second and Third
Committees, the great majority of issues had been resolved, and his
delegation could endorse all the formulas adopted—on the territorial
sea, the exclusive economic zone, the continental shelf, the high
seas, the protection of the marine environment and marine scientific
research—with the exception of the provisions on the delimitation
of the maritime areas between States with opposite or adjacent
coasts. In the general debate at the end of the first part of the current
session, his delegation had agreed that the texts on the limits of na-
tional jurisdiction over the continental shelf and on marine scientific
research on the continental shelf beyond 200 nautical miles should
be included in the revised text, and that had subsequently been done
on the basis of the opinions expressed in that debate. It thus ex-
pected that those texts would provide the compromise on the basis
of which those issues would be solved by consensus.
70. However, it could not accept the present text of the provi-
sions concerning the delimitation of maritime areas between
States with adjacent or opposite coasts, in other words, the para-
graph 1 of articles 74 and 83. On that point he spoke not only for
his own delegation, but also for the other delegations which had
sponsored document NG 7/10/Rev.2. The negotiations had failed
on that question, probably because they had got off to a slow
start. In the general debate at the first part of the session, the del-
egations for which he spoke had rejected as a basis for negotia-
tion the text on criteria mentioned in the report of the Chairman
of negotiating group 7 (A/CONF.62/L.47)1 and had drawn atten-
tion to the fact that, on the contrary, both interest groups had
largely accepted the text in the first revision of the negotiating
text as a basis for negotiation. They failed to understand how it
had been decided that a text rejected by the largest group of
States with a direct interest in the issue could be regarded as re-
ceiving widespread support and offering better prospects of con-
sensus. The text had not only proved to be an ineffective basis
for a compromise, but its very existence had been, for supporters
of the revision, a disincentive to negotiations. The delegations
for which he was speaking believed that the exchanges of views
at that session had shown the way towards a consensus on that is-

sue. Unfortunately, there was as yet no agreed text which em-
bodied that development, but he hoped that the progress made
would not be lost. Thus the third revision of the text must ac-
knowledge that the prospects for consensus on that issue had
their basis elsewhere than in the formulation in the second revi-
sion.
71. Lastly, his delegation drew attention to the need to ensure
the participation of the European Communities in the future con-
vention and, in that respect, it fully supported the statement
made by the delegation of the Netherlands.
72. Mr. CHOUAKI (Algeria), referring to the proposals con-
tained in document A/CONF.62/C.l/L.28/Add.l, said that his
delegation would not endorse the new solutions advocated in ar-
ticle 161, paragraph 7, unless the mechanism and the scope of
the consensus set up in that text proved to be non-detrimental to
the interests of the developing countries. Article 161, paragraph
1 (d), implied that only three types of question would be decided
by consensus. However, paragraph 7 (/) and (g), and article 162,
paragraph 2 (/) and (n), extended the scope of consensus and
there was a danger that the use of that procedure might overreach
the limits within which it was meant to be contained. The
decision-making procedure envisaged in the compromise docu-
ment retained the two-thirds majority only for a few minor ques-
tions, the most important questions being decided by a three-
fourths majority or by consensus. The future of the Authority and
the role of the developing countries in the decision-making
process were thus being seriously jeopardized, since consensus
was a form of veto in disguise, which had been rejected by the
Organization of African Unity at its conference in Freetown in
June 1980 (see A/CONF.62/104). In any event, that system
could certainly not be invoked as a precedent, because it repre-
sented a retrograde step vis-a-vis the system of decision-making
in the international organizations of the United Nations system
and ran counter to the democratic requirements of the new inter-
national order. However, article 162, paragraph 2 (j), concerning
the approval of plans of work, tended to establish practically auto-
matic access for a few States and their entities to the exploitation
of the resources of the common heritage of mankind. That kind
of provision opened the way for the more intensive exploitation
of sea-bed resources in a manner seriously detrimental to the in-
terests of land-based developing-country producers.
73. In another context, the protection of the interests of the de-
veloping countries required that the adoption of the parallel sys-
tem, as opposed to the unitary system advocated by the develop-
ing countries, should be accompanied by the effective, specific
and complete transfer of technology, covering all phases of the
development of resources: exploration, exploitation, transport
and processing. However, the compromise had not really taken
that element into account, with the result that there was a disturb-
ing imbalance for all the developing countries.
74. The fact that the moratorium provided for under article 155
of document A/CONF.62/W.P.10/Rev.l was called in question
by the text before the Conference caused his delegation some
concern, because that text distorted the compromise that had
been adopted when the Group of 77 had agreed to negotiate on
the basis of the system of parallel exploitation. The Conference
should therefore revert to the text in the first revision. Apart from
those fundamental problems, the compromise proposed in docu-
ment A/CONF.62/C.l/L.28/Add.l would not be balanced if some
provisions were not improved. Thus, in article 150 and article
151, paragraph 2 (b), the mechanisms provided for were in no
way sufficient to protect the earnings and interests of the devel-
oping countries, in particular when they were producers of min-
erals obtained from the Area. Article 163, paragraph 10, was not
satisfactory and the specific majorities required for decisions on
various questions within the Commission should be spelt out. On
that question, his delegation hoped that article 163, paragraph
10, of the second revision of the negotiating text would be re-
tained. Article 162, paragraph 2 (a), introduced a dangerous am-
biguity into the relations between the Council and the Assembly.
The Assembly, the supreme organ of the Authority, must retain
all its prerogatives, without any encroachment by the Council.



48 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

The expression "invite the attention of the Assembly to cases of
non-compliance" could be interpreted as an attempt to control
the activities of the Assembly and to limit its prerogatives. As to
annex III, article 5, paragraph 3, the slight improvement made in
the compromise text was a long way from meeting the expecta-
tions of the developing countries. Annex IV, article 11, para-
graph 3, should be amended to enable the Enterprise to avail it-
self of financial means which would allow it to act at least as
quickly as private or State entities.
75. With regard to the problems taken up by the Second Com-
mittee, his delegation attached great importance to the question
of the delimitation of the continental shelf and the exclusive eco-
nomic zone between States with opposite or adjacent coasts. The
success of the Conference would be diminished if that problem
remained unsolved. On that point there were several arguments
in favour of a third revision of the text: they included reasons of
form, since the procedure used for the second revision was con-
trary to the decision embodied in document A/CONF.62/62,2 as
many delegations had pointed out, and reasons of substance,
since that irregular revision might lead to ambiguities concerning
the criteria for delimitation. Consequently, the new formula did
not improve the chances of reaching a consensus. The reference
to international law in the first sentence of the provisions on de-
limitation could have been placed in a context which would re-
move all ambiguity and'would hav£ been in conformity with in-
ternational jurisprudence on that point. In any event, that
reference could be interpreted only as confirming the pre-eminent
role of equitable principles. Furthermore, on the question of de-
limitation, international law had already established the concept
of "relevant factors" in addition to the principle of equity. His
delegation, in requesting a return to that concept, provided for in
the first revision of the negotiating text, was merely taking into
account international jurisprudence, which the Conference could
not ignore.
76. The Conference had considered the question of islands as
one of the most important and most controversial. It was still im-
portant and controversial because article 121, paragraph 2, had
not been amended, even though many delegations had requested
an amendment. The granting of an economic zone to islands be-
longing to mainland States in semi-enclosed seas or in narrow
maritime areas led to imbalances which were unacceptable to
some coastal States. The recognition of the right of islands to
have an economic zone should necessarily be accompanied by a
recognition of the interests of other States and hence of measures
which would safeguard the rights of those States.
77. His delegation could not endorse the present wording of ar-
ticle 76 on the breadth of the continental shelf. Together with the
Arab group and other delegations, his delegation had challenged
the corresponding provisions in the first and second revisions of
the negotiating text. Those provisions had introduced the strange
notion of a continental margin, which resulted in a substantial re-
duction in the size of the common heritage of mankind for the
benefit of a small minority of States. That action was contrary to
the preamble of the future convention, in accordance with which
the States parties would call for "the equitable and efficient utili-
zation" of the resources of the seas and oceans, and "the realiza-
tion of a just and equitable international economic order".
78. His delegation urged the Conference to condemn any uni-
lateral measure or proposed legislation designed to promote in
any way whatsoever the exploitation of the common heritage of
mankind, and pressed for the full participation of national libera-
tion movements in the drafting of the future convention. It hoped
that the third revision would reflect the deliberations of the Con-
ference in order that the text might be improved and that the
Conference might devise a convention whose provisions would
replace those of the Geneva Conventions.
79. The PRESIDENT regretted that the representative of Alge-
ria had criticized the initiatives of the Collegium. Such com-
ments might have serious consequences for the Conference.

2Ibid., vol. X (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.V.4).

80. Mr. CHOUAKI (Algeria) said that it had never been his in-
tention to engage in polemics. His delegation was simply inter-
preting a procedural point, without challenging any individual or
any authority.
81. Mr. POWELL-JONES (United Kingdom) noted that the
progress during the second part of the ninth session had been
achieved mainly by the First Committee in respect of the negotia-
tion of the deep-sea mining regime and by the informal plenary
Conference in respect of the final clauses and general provisions.
The solution proposed for the problem of decision-making in the
Council should, if adopted, make a significant contribution to the
success of the Conference and restore its credibility with Govern-
ments and public opinion.
82. The work done by the informal plenary Conference on the
final clauses had brought that part of the convention to the level
of the main chapters. The wording proposed for article 303 on
reservations (see A/CONF.62/L.60) was acceptable, on the as-
sumption that the convention was adopted by consensus. How-
ever, his delegation was not satisfied with article 302, paragraph
3, which provided that the convention might enter into force with
an initial composition for the Council that was not fully consist-
ent with article 161. The complicated question of amendments
had been treated satisfactorily in the new text of article 306,
which established a measure of flexibility while retaining the
necessary balance within the convention. With regard to the
question of participation in the convention, his delegation sup-
ported the statement by the Netherlands in favour of accession by
the European Economic Community. It was essential to avoid
disturbing the balance that had been achieved with much diffi-
culty in the final clauses.
83. The general provisions presented difficult issues. Although
his delegation did not always endorse the solutions proposed for
some provisions (see A/CONF.62/L.58), it was prepared to ac-
cept them in a spirit of compromise. The text arising out of the
discussion on jus cogens was acceptable, as were the proposals
for the settlement of disputes. His delegation hoped that those
texts would be incorporated in the third revision of the negotiat-
ing text. With regard to the delimitation of the continental shelf
and the exclusive economic zone between States with opposite or
adjacent coasts, the text proposed for articles 74 and 83 was a
good basis for consensus and should enable agreement to be
reached.
84. All the proposals made by the First Committee, as set out
in document A/CONF.62/C.l/L.28/Add.l, should be incorpo-
rated in the third revision. His delegation was in favour of the
voting procedure in the Council proposed in article 161, para-
graph 7, and article 162, paragraph 2 (/'). However, article 162,
paragraph 1, should be included in the list of questions to be de-
cided by consensus. In his delegation's opinion, it would be dif-
ficult to revert to the matter of the composition of the Council, as
some delegations had suggested, without upsetting the balance
obtained in respect of voting procedures.
85. The question of the development of the resources of the
Area had been one of the most difficult before the Conference.
While the new article 150, subparagraph (ft), concerning the de-
velopment of the common heritage, was satisfactory, the provi-
sions of article 151, paragraph 2, were less so. His delegation
could not accept provisions more restrictive than those now con-
tained in the text of the article. It continued to have reservations
about annex III, article 5, paragraph 3 (e), concerning the trans-
fer of technology. The question of the settlement of disputes
might usefully be given further consideration. Although his dele-
gation regretted that the three minor improvements it had pro-
posed in annex HI, article 13, on financial terms of contracts, had
been rejected, it could accept the existing text in a spirit of com-
promise. It welcomed the new text proposed for annex IV, article
11, on the financing of the Enterprise, but in view of the United
Kingdom's very high contribution to that project, his Govern-
ment reserved its position pending a full evaluation. On the ques-
tion of the lawfulness of deep-sea mining legislation, his delega-
tion's position was well known.



137th meeting—26 August 1980 49

86. Although the texts proposed by the Second Committee (see
A/CONF.62/L.51) were generally balanced, his Government re-
mained opposed to the change made in article 76, paragraph 8,
on the commission on the limits of the continental shelf, as a
result of which the words "on the basis of" had replaced "tak-
ing into account". It also had reservations with regard to article
121, paragraph 3, on the rdgime of islands, since it objected to
any arbitrary distinction between the parts of the territory of the
coastal State. The existing text of article 60, paragraph 3, on the
removal of installations in the exclusive economic zone, should
be improved. A number of proposals made at the current session
on other articles within the purview of the Second Committee
were not supported by his delegation, which opposed in particu-
lar the amendment proposed to article 21. To empower the
coastal State to institute regulations requiring prior notification or
authorization of the passage of warships through the territorial
sea was inconsistent with existing international law and unac-
ceptable to the United Kingdom.
87. The texts proposed for Parts XII, XIII and XIV by the
Third Committee (A/CONF.62/C.3/L.34 and Add.l and 2) fol-
lowing lengthy negotiations were generally acceptable, as were
the suggested drafting amendments. Some other changes of a
drafting nature might be necessary at a later stage.
88. Since the new texts proposed were supported by a wide
area of consensus, his delegation considered that they should be
incorporated in the third revision. The Conference would have to
hold another session in order to complete its work on participa-
tion, preliminary investment protection and the preparatory com-
mission. If its work was to be completed in 1981, however, what
had already been agreed on must not be called in question.
89. Mr. MHLANGA (Zambia) said that in principle the Con-
ference had a mandate to provide for the exercise of the freedoms
of the high seas and to ensure respect for the principle of the
common heritage of mankind, proclaimed in the Declaration of
Principles Governing the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor, and the
Subsoil Thereof, beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction (res-
olution 2749 (XXV)). His delegation therefore opposed all pro-
posals that were inconsistent with that principle, including some
which were reflected in the informal composite negotiating text.
It also protested against any unilateral claim or legislation con-
trary to the concept of the common heritage of mankind.
90. With regard to the work of the informal plenary Confer-
ence, article 286 on the dispute settlement was not satisfactory in
that it was subject to the provisions of other articles of Part XV,
section 3, which provided for limitations and exceptions. As a
result, a coastal State would not have any obligation to submit to
a compulsory settlement of disputes in matters relating to eco-
nomic zones, which should be the subject of further negotiation.
91. Referring to matters before the First Committee, he hoped
that the proposals contained in the note transmitted the previous
day by his delegation and the delegations of Burundi, Gabon,
Lesotho, Uganda, Zaire and Zimbabwe would be taken into con-
sideration in the third revision and circulated to all delegations. It
seemed abnormal, in the voting procedure within the Council as
proposed in document A/CONF.62/C. l/L.28/Add. 1, to separate,
in article 162, paragraph 2 (m) from paragraph 2 (/); the provi-
sions of both subparagraphs were related and should be incorpo-
rated in article 161, paragraph 7 (b).
92. It was regrettable that the moratorium clause should have
been deleted from article 155 on the review conference. That
clause, together with satisfactory provisions relating to the trans-
fer of technology, had been among the conditions laid down by
the Group of 77 when it had accepted the so-called parallel sys-
tem of exploiting the resources of the Area. The provisions relat-
ing to the transfer of technology should enable the Enterprise and
all countries, whether developing or not, to begin exploitation of
the Area at the same time. With regard to the production policies
set forth in article 151, his Government would like to amend the
new text proposed by the First Committee by adding, at the end
of paragraph 2 (b) (iii), the words "only if the growth rate is less
than 3 per cent". At the end of subparagraph (iv), it would be

preferable to replace the words "for any year" by "for the year
of commercial production". Continuing in the same subpara-
graph, the words "70 per cent of should be inserted between
the word "exceed" and the words "the difference". The produc-
tion formula should be improved to make it more responsive to
practical situations. The provisions of article 150, subparagraph
(i), relating to market access conditions and the provisions on
compensation should also be improved.
93. With regard to the work of the Second Committee, his del-
egation tegretted that little progress had been made in respect of
direct negotiations between coastal States and land-locked and
geographically disadvantaged States. That was all the more re-
grettable since some of the outstanding issues held the key to a
satisfactory conclusion of the Conference. Those issues included
the delimitation of the continental shelf and the exclusive eco-
nomic zone, which should be regional in character, and the right
of free access to and from the sea. That right should be estab-
lished securely instead of being subject to the conclusion of bilat-
eral agreements or other requirements which had the effect of ne-
gating its existence.
94. It would also be recalled that in document A/AC. 138/87
the Secretary-General had noted that the bulk of the natural re-
sources of the sea were close to coasts. He had mentioned, for
instance, that if the limits of national jurisdiction were to be set
at 200 nautical miles, 87 per cent of hydrocarbons would belong
to coastal States alone and only 13 per cent would remain as the
common heritage of mankind. If the limits were set at 40 nautical
miles, coastal States would still have 41 per cent of hydrocarbon
resources. That explained why the land-locked and geographi-
cally disadvantaged States would find it difficult to support a
proposal to legitimize unilateral claims for the extension of na-
tional jurisdiction to 200 nautical miles or even beyond. Custom-
ary international law set the limit at 3 nautical miles and conven-
tional international law might permit 12 nautical miles.
95. With regard to the questions before the Third Committee,
account should, in his opinion, be taken of the solutions pro-
posed for certain matters before the Second Committee.
96. His delegation welcomed the fact that the idea of the com-
mon heritage of mankind had been incorporated in article 140 of
the second revision of the negotiating text. It would have been
preferable, however, to strengthen paragraph 2 of that article by
adding a sentence on the establishment of the common heritage
fund. His delegation remained prepared to participate in negotia-
tions on all those matters in order to promote the successful con-
clusion of the Conference.

Mr. Tshikala Kakwaka (Zaire), Vice-President, took the
Chair.
97. Mr. OSMAN HOUFFANE (Djibouti) said that the Confer-
ence seemed to be approaching the vital goal it had set itself.
However, there were still some outstanding problems, in particu-
lar with regard to interim investment, the Preparatory Commis-
sion and membership of the Council. But on the whole, the
results achieved by the main committees and in the negotiating
groups at the current session had been encouraging. The Confer-
ence had still to find an equitable formula for the delimitation of
the continental shelf and exclusive economic zone. With regard
to decision-making and voting in the Council, Djibouti joined the
consensus which had emerged. Like the member countries of the
Arab group, Djibouti supported the accession to the convention
of peoples under foreign occupation and liberation movements
recognized by the United Nations and intergovernmental regional
organizations, in accordance with the wish expressed by the
heads of State and Governments at the Organization of African
Unity Conference in Freetown, in June 1980.
98. Mr. CHIRWA (Malawi) said that the Conference was in-
volved not merely in the codification of the existing international
law relating to the oceans and the use of ocean resources, but
also in the progressive development of that law. In order to
achieve that, changes were bound to be made to the law enunci-
ated in the numerous existing conventions. It was therefore desir-
able that the Conference should adopt a convention which made



50 Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

fair provision for the interests of all groups of countries, includ-
ing the developing countries, and especially the land-locked and
geographically disadvantaged among them.
99. His delegation supported in principle the proposals con-
tained in the second revision of the negotiating text, although
some elements were not completely satisfactory. The right of ac-
cess to and from the sea and freedom of transit, which were the
subject of Part X, were of vital importance to land-locked coun-
tries, especially those which were developing countries, which
must be certain that their goods would be afforded transit. Ma-
lawi therefore hoped that the Conference would not be insensi-
tive to the special needs of such countries in considering those
provisions. Whatever the final decision of the Conference, the
right of access should be enunciated as a right and not as a mere
recommendation, the article on the exclusion of application of
the most-favoured-nation clause should be maintained, the types
of means of transport provided for in the text should not be re-
duced and the article relating to the granting of greater transit fa-
cilities should be maintained.
100. His delegation, like many other delegations of land-locked
States, was not satisfied with the provisions of Part V relating to
the participation of such States in the exploitation of the living
resources of the exclusive economic zones. More facilities
should be accorded to the land-locked States. In accordance with
the present text, the coastal State had the right to determine the
allowable catch of the living resources of the exclusive economic
zone, to determine its own capacity to harvest them, to determine
whether it had the capacity to harvest the entire allowable catch,
and consequently to declare a surplus which the land-locked
States and the geographically disadvantaged States must share
equitably. Those provisions, which were still very favourable to
coastal States, should be reconsidered.
101. His delegation endorsed the principle that the Area and its
resources were the common heritage of mankind. It therefore
hoped that the Conference would take due account of that princi-
ple when it came to adopt Part XI of the negotiating text, so that
no provision which directly or indirectly derogated from that
principle was accepted or incorporated in the text. The work of
the current session on revenue-sharing, decision-making proce-
dures in the Council, the transfer of technology and the financing
of the Enterprise was encouraging. However, the provisions re-
lating to the compensation of developing land-based mineral pro-
ducers should be improved by stipulating, in article 151, para-
graph 4, that a system of compensation and other economic
adjustment measures should be established as complementary
measures and not, as at present provided for, in the form of alter-
natives.
102. Mr. VARVESI (Italy), referring to the work of the First
Committee, said that his delegation welcomed the idea of intro-
ducing into article 150 a new paragraph stating that the exploita-
tion of the resources of the sea-bed in the interests of mankind as
a whole was one of the major reasons for setting up the Author-
ity. Nevertheless, the wording of subparagraph (d) of that article
constituted a formidable obstacle to the development of the com-
mon heritage. As for the limitation of production provided for in
article 151, his delegation had always sought to avoid provisions
that might harm the interests of industrialized or developing con-
sumer States. With the limits at present stipulated, that danger
existed, since they might impede the sea-bed mining industry.
With regard to the composition and voting procedure of the
Council, article 161, paragraph 7, provided the makings of a so-
lution. Nevertheless, a wider use of consensus, particularly for
approval of the Authority's budget, would have been desirable.
Clarification was also required in the wording of paragraph 2 (c)
from which it was apparent that some other aspects of the provi-
sions relating to the representation of interest groups on the
Council were in need of improvement. It would seem that annex
III, article 13, relating to the financial terms of contracts, might
discourage, rather than encourage, the development of ocean re-
sources. The principle of consensus for questions relating to pos-
sible shortfalls in funds to cover the initial financing of the Enter-

prise was satisfactory, but the total sum that the States concerned
would be called upon to contribute should be fixed.
103. The provisions of the negotiating text dealt with in the
Second Committee were on the whole satisfactory, particularly
with regard to freedom of navigation on the high seas and in the
economic zones, the right of transit passage through straits and
the innocent passage of all ships in territorial seas. The proposed
provisions on the settlement of disputes on those subjects consti-
tuted an essential supplementary safeguard. His delegation could
accept, albeit with some difficulty, articles 74 and 83 relating to
delimitation. It hoped that a satisfactory solution could be found
on that question.
104. The Third Committee had also made good progress, al-
though it had been concerned only with drafting problems. With
regard to the general provisions, his delegation welcomed the in-
clusion of a provision on archaeological objects, since it had long
stressed the importance of that matter. The wording of the other
general provisions, particularly regarding the principle of the
common heritage of mankind and the use of the seas for peaceful
purposes, did not affect the general principles of existing interna-
tional law.
105. The final clauses proposed in documents FC/21/Rev.l and
Add.l seemed generally acceptable. The provision enunciating
the principle of the inadmissibility of reservations was important
and was linked with the prospect of adopting the convention by
consensus. It would be desirable for amendments relating to ac-
tivities in the Area to be approved both by the Council and by the
Assembly, but it seemed difficult to accept that the representa-
tives of States in both those organs should be plenipotentiaries in
the formal sense of the term. The simplified amendment proce-
dure appeared to be very useful and the provisions regarding the
entry into force of amendments appeared to safeguard the stabil-
ity of the rules laid down by the convention.

106. His delegation was anxious to see included in the conven-
tion a clause which would enable the European Economic Com-
munity to accede to it, as the Netherlands representative had re-
quested. The suggestions of the Drafting Committee would have
to be taken into account in all language versions when the third
revision of the negotiating text was being prepared.

107. Mr. YANKOV (Bulgaria) said that with the breakthrough
on matters relating to the regime for the exploration and exploita-
tion of the sea-bed beyond national jurisdiction, including its in-
stitutional aspects, and on other outstanding questions, the Con-
ference had reached a turning-point. The main components of the
convention had already taken shape in the form of compromise
formulas which would be reflected in the forthcoming revision of
the negotiating text. The Conference had therefore accomplished
its threefold function as a negotiating forum, a preparatory codi-
fication body for the preparation of draft articles and a universal
diplomatic conference for the adoption of a new comprehensive
convention on the law of the sea.

108. His delegation noted with particular satisfaction the provi-
sions relating to the freedom of navigation on the high seas and
the right of transit passage through straits. It also welcomed the
adoption of 12 nautical miles as a universal norm for the breadth
of the territorial sea, and the agreement on a viable regime of the
territorial sea and on the innocent passage of ships through the
territorial sea and in archipelagic waters. It would oppose any at-
tempt to renegotiate the provisions relating to the status of the
territorial sea, in particular, article 21. The provisions relating to
archipelagic waters, the regime of islands, enclosed and semi-
enclosed seas, and the continental shelf were also satisfactory,
even though it would have been better to fix the outer limits of
the continental shelf at 200 nautical miles, as for the exclusive
economic zone. His delegation also supported the adoption of the
fundamental principle that the sea-bed and ocean floor and the
subsoil thereof beyond the limits of national jurisdiction and the
resources therein contained were the common heritage of man-
kind.
109. The provisions of the negotiating text relating to the ex-



138th meeting—26 August 1980 51

elusive economic zone were compromise formulas based on the
package-deal approach. But such compromise solutions were via-
ble only if justice was done to the legitimate claims of the States
concerned, particularly with regard to access to living resources.
Bulgaria was a small country with a coastline bordering an en-
closed sea extremely poor in fish stocks; it had had to make sub-
stantial investments in recent years in order to build up a long-
distance fishing industry. He therefore regretted that in their
present form, articles 62 and 70 did not adequately take into con-
sideration the concerns of geographically disadvantaged countries
such as his own.

110. With regard to Part XI of the negotiating text, the First
Committee had found a compromise solution on key issues such
as the composition and voting procedure of the Council, the sys-
tem of exploration and exploitation, production policy, the fi-
nancing and statute of the Enterprise, and other related matters.
Bulgaria could accept those proposals, in particular in the light of
the position taken by the Group of 77. Since the composition and
voting procedures of the Council had been negotiated as integral
parts of an important institutional problem, it could accept the
three-tier principle of decision-making, namely, consensus,
three-fourths majority and two-thirds majority—for the questions
listed in the new text. There could be no question of reconsider-
ing a compromise formula achieved after difficult negotiations.

111. The work accomplished on the general provisions, the set-
tlement of disputes and the final clauses was satisfactory. The
new provisions proposed for the settlement of disputes consti-
tuted a comprehensive system covering all types of disputes
within the terms of reference of the convention, including those
arising from the delimitation of maritime areas. With regard to the
final clauses, it was to be hoped that a compromise solution
would be found for the problem of reservations to the conven-
tion. As Bulgaria attached much importance to the problem of
the protection of archaeological and historical objects, it sup-
ported document A/CONF.62/GP/11, which met that point.
112. With regard to the issues within the terms of reference of
the Second Committee, there was no reason to change the provi-
sions set out in the second revision of the negotiating text. It was
to be hoped that a compromise solution would be found regard-
ing the delimitation of maritime areas. A multilateral convention
on the law of the sea should lay down viable general principles
and should not try to settle specific bilateral issues which might
arise in that respect. The negotiations on Parts XII, XIII and XIV
of the text had been completed and the second revision, with the
various changes made at the current session, offered good pros-
pects for the adoption of a comprehensive convention by con-
sensus.

The meeting rose at 6.30 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


